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PRAISE FOR CRIME SCENE ASIA


A fascinating book. This is an easy to read compendium of some of the most interesting and important criminal cases in Asia and Australia over the last decades, revealing the difficulties, successes and trials and tribulations associated with complex forensic science and medical evidence in the court room.


– Forensic pathologist Johan Duflou Clinical Professor at the Sydney Medical School of the University of Sydney, Australia


An irresistible read. Gripping tales of the relentless pursuit of truth through forensic science, no matter the odds.


– Dr Raquel del Rosario-Fortun Professor at the University of the Philippines-College of Medicine, the Philippines


Liz Porter takes great pains in understanding complex scientific evidence and presents it with such clarity. It is a well-researched and presented book of criminal cases, which is fascinating to read.


– Dato’ V Sithambaram Eminent criminal lawyer, Malaysia


An absolutely fascinating read: Liz Porter has a journalist’s eye for detail and a storyteller’s ear for narrative. Put them together and we have a superbly told series of tragic (and sometimes tragicomic) true stories leaving the reader stunned by the way ordinary lives can drift into extraordinary drama.


– Nury Vittachi, Author and Chairman, Asia-Pacific Writers and Translators Association, Hong Kong


PRAISE FOR LIZ PORTER’S EARLIER BOOKS


Written On The Skin: an Australian forensic casebook


Each of her stories reads like good crime fiction … a compulsive read.


– The Sydney Morning Herald


Highly addictive reading for any fan of forensics or CSI.


– Kathryn Fox, bestselling author of Without Consent


A delightful and entertaining writer.


– Weekend Australian


Cold Case Files: past crimes solved by new forensic science


… Edgar Allan Poe would have applauded the recent Sisters-in-Crime Davitt Award for True Crime being awarded to Melbourne writer Liz Porter for her brilliant Cold Case Files. … He introduced the notion of ratiocination – the exercise of reason – in the process of analysing clues. And Porter investigates many as she sets the advances of forensic science technology, so recognisable from TV crime shows, into an investigative context.


– Weekend Australian


Liz Porter writes grippingly, though soberly, and with a scrupulous attention to scientific detail.


– The Age


They read like scripts for a CSI show or an episode of Dexter but what makes the mysteries in Cold Case Files by Liz Porter so chilling are that they come from real life police files. The TV shows are sexed up to entertain or titillate viewers; Cold Case Files is not, and it’s all the more gripping because of it.


– Townsville Bulletin (Australia)


Advances in forensic science have afforded modern criminal investigators some remarkable opportunities. Long-time journalist Liz Porter takes a detailed look at how forensics have solved a series of Australian murders which originally either baffled police or led them to imprison the wrong person. True crime fans, this is for you.


– Queensland U On Sunday (Brisbane, Australia)
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For my darling daughter Alice.


In memory of my late mother, biochemist Rose Porter (1916–2005). How I wish she were still here to talk to about life, books and science.


And for my good friend Herbert, who read so many versions of the openings of the stories in this book and always remained enthusiastic and encouraging.








FOREWORD


It was a book that led me to the world of forensic medicine: Dead Men Tell Tales, a 1968 Pan paperback by Jurgen Thorwald. A book in the true crime genre, it left me starry-eyed about the power of forensic science and medicine to catch murderers: a riveting read for a sheltered schoolboy. When I have been back to it, I can recall my excitement; but, predictably, it reads now like a pale impression of reality.


Fast forward almost 50 years to the gripping cases in this collection and to Liz Porter’s extensive research and wonderfully engaging style. The way she handles their many aspects, some of which are nicely nuanced, demonstrates respect for how sophisticated consumers of contemporary forensic fare have become. Her cases each have their own special mix of suspects, crime scenes, police, lawyers, judges, scientists, doctors, psychologists and psychiatrists; these interact in their own way to finally result in a verdict. The vagaries, the uncertainties along the way are on brilliant display here too – but ultimately all is distilled to one of two formal outcomes: guilty, or not; and, on a number of occasions, both.


Examination of the scene is a crucial component of the evaluation of virtually all serious crime. It is only by re-creating what happens at the scene that the court can come to conclusions about the actions of the accused. Such conclusions might be arrived at via corroboration of the evidence of other witnesses (as well as the accused), inferences drawn simply from the evidence and nothing else, and in murder cases, these include inferences about the state of mind and intentions of the accused. The terrible Singapore case of the missing eight-year-old girl captures all of this, and additionally captures the tension of the high stakes associated with a capital case. The accused, after being convicted despite having a low IQ and possibly mental illness (and therefore arguably not responsible for his actions) was sentenced to death. The sentence was upheld 2:1 on appeal, and carried out.


The forensic science and medical evidence in Crime Scene Asia is fascinating in itself, as are the accounts of the police investigations. But what sets this book apart is seeing how that evidence is used in court by the prosecution and then challenged, or alternative forensic evidence introduced by the defence. The reader hears from the experts, but also experiences the lawyers, facing each other on a tightrope trading blows, where a wrong step or a change of stance can – and does – send them crashing to oblivion below. This type of writing, setting the expert evidence in the advocates’ framework, is new and is possible because Liz Porter, on the evidence of Crime Scene Asia, has a collection of gifts which not all authors in the genre may have acquired: background investigative, forensic and legal knowledge, insight and research and writing skill.


The Asian setting for the cases is obviously a distinctive feature of the book. The cases from Singapore, for example, involve trials by judge alone. Ultimately, juries are a crucial protection for citizens, and generally they are dispensed with as an efficiency measure. Trials are easier and cheaper without them, although the results, in my view and supported by examples in this book, are not necessarily more reliable. In addition, a number of Asian countries have capital punishment. I have been forever grateful not to work in such a jurisdiction. The possibility of execution in a number of the cases in this book adds a further stressful dimension to the accounts which many readers will not be familiar with. But there are also examples of wonderful and heart-warming results from some non-criminal case applications of forensic DNA, and others – for example, an extraordinary parentage testing case from the Philippines – producing real insights into the way people live.


One of the great things about Crime Scene Asia is that Liz Porter is not painting a simple, two-dimensional utopian picture of perfectly precise justice. The Innocence Project is clear evidence that criminal trials (in the United States at least) can be flawed without those responsible for the process being aware: wrong executions and wrong convictions haunt American (and almost certainly other countries’) death rows and prisons. She has examples of flawed forensics leading to wrong convictions, and to convictions where real doubt exists but which still stand. Being associated with such a case (or, God forbid, such cases) is the stuff of nightmares for most of the players in the courtroom drama: judge, barristers, expert witnesses and, yes, usually police. There are also, however, clear cases of corruption, incompetence and poor performance, the criminal trial anywhere being a human enterprise.


Without giving the game away there are cases in the pages which follow beautifully showing:


● Forensic evidence clearly corroborating otherwise purely circumstantial evidence


● The complexities of autopsy and forensic science evidence being tied to the mental state of the accused


● That technically perfect DNA analysis, identifying accused individuals who have left biological material at crimes scenes, can be easily misinterpreted and used to wrongly convict them


● That technically perfect chemical evidence of explosive material on the hands of an accused can have an innocent explanation


● The potential for an over reulance on confession evidence to result in injustice


● The importance of prosecution expert witnesses agreeing to reasonable propositions put to them by the defence to avoid injustice


● Independent courts and judges throwing out clearly wrong prosecutions, making wrong convictions, and making good judgements too


● That what objectively is an accident could be a murder depending solely on one’s interpretation of the surrounding circumstances


● And many other striking examples of crime scene and forensics operating in investigations and trials.


Crime Scene Asia sets a new benchmark in criminal investigative, forensic science and forensic medicine story-telling. The cases are each dramatic in their own way, and thus make compelling reading. For those who are interested in the issues, the detail allows the reader to identify them and think them through. Crime Scene Asia thus also works at deeper levels. Quite simply, Liz Porter is to be congratulated – she has written a winner.


Stephen Cordner


Professor of Forensic Pathology


Monash University, Australia










AUTHOR’S NOTE


I was sitting in a café in Sydney, transfixed, as former Hong Kong-based barrister Peter Lavac told me the story of a former client, a truck driver called Chan, who, in 1997, managed to get himself enmeshed in what appeared to be a plot to blow up Hong Kong Island’s stone-walled Stanley Prison. The key plotters, Lavac was telling me, were two of the former British colony’s most notorious gangsters. One was a guy called Big Spender, nicknamed for the lavish lifestyle he funded with his armed robberies and kidnappings.


Lavac’s client, Chan, was only a minor player in this criminal big league. But he was in serious trouble nevertheless. Police had raided the rural hideout that Big Spender had set up to store his explosives: a load big enough to flatten a whole block in Hong Kong’s Central Business District. Chan’s story was that he had only been a delivery boy. Specifically, he said he had been hired to deliver a truckload of empty barrels.


Chan had just finished dropping off these barrels when police swooped. He was arrested and the results of forensic testing of his hands and clothing suggested that he had had closer contact with the explosives than a mere delivery boy should have had. So the Hong Kong police were treating him as a dangerous terrorist.


Lavac was telling me this story because its hero, in the end, turned out to be a forensic scientist. And when I had been working on my two previous books, cases where the forensic scientist is the hero were always the ones I was looking for.


But was I actually writing a book? By the time I met Peter Lavac, I wasn’t sure.


I had lined up my chat with Lavac some months earlier. At the time I had certainly been trying to work on a book: one with the working title, Asia – forensic science casebook.


I had come up with the book idea in Singapore, when I was there for the 2014 conference of the Asia-Pacific Writers and Translators Association and had been on a panel talking about crime writing. I had been reading a collection of local crime fiction called Singapore Noir and noted that there was also a KL Noir and a Hong Kong Noir in the series. But there seemed to be a dearth of local true crime. One bookshop I visited had a floor-to-ceiling wall of shelves devoted to books on “feng shui”. Its true crime section had three sparse shelves and nothing much local. But I did find a local prosecutor’s memoir (published by Marshall Cavendish, whom I soon identified as the local publisher with an interest in true crime-related topics).


At the APWT session on crime writing, I floated the idea of doing a local forensic science casebook – and received an enthusiastic response.


I had two more days left in Singapore so I did a quick Google, came up with a staff list for Singapore’s national forensic sciences agency, the Health Sciences Authority (HSA), and fired off an email.


I was gratified to get a prompt reply and an invitation to come in for a chat. Later that day I spent a delightful hour and a half with a forensic scientist whom I won’t name because I don’t want to embarrass him. Suffice to say that I walked out on to Outram Road with a notebook full of case ideas and books to read.


When I arrived home to Melbourne I contacted Marshall Cavendish about my idea. The publishers liked it – and I had a deal.


I then began work on the new book in much the same way I had started my previous two forensic science books, Written On The Skin: an Australian forensic casebook and Cold Case Files: past crimes solved by new forensic science. That is, I contacted a long list of scientists. Sometimes I had cases in mind that they had been involved in and that I wanted to include. Or I wanted to ask them if they had a particular case where (a) the back story was interesting and (b) the forensic science work involved had been both dramatic and effective, in that it had either solved a mystery, won police a conviction or helped a defence lawyer exonerate a falsely accused client.


This process had worked very well for my two previous books. Both police and scientists were always willing to talk to me, and happy to participate in the whole book development process. They checked the copy that I sent them for accuracy and even took a last look at the page proofs before the book was printed.


Even when I was researching my first book, Written On The Skin, my approaches were welcomed. The scientists and police I interviewed were mainly from the state of Victoria where I live, and many of them had probably read the articles I had written as a reporter for the Melbourne paper, The Sunday Age. So I suppose I was a known quantity.


By the time I got to my second book, the process went even more smoothly. I emailed scientists and police from around Australia, the UK, and the US (where I contacted an officer from the US Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives out of the blue to ask about a case in which its ballistics database had tracked a gun used in a drive-by shooting). None of them had ever heard of me. But I would send details of my first book, assure them of my bona fides and my respect for accuracy and promise that they would get to check the copy. And off we would go.


I assumed that this new Asian casebook would proceed in the same fashion.


But by mid 2015, everything (except the publishing deal) had started to fall apart. The HSA scientist told me he would love to help but his boss didn’t think it was a good idea. A Singaporean scientist in private practice, whom I had thought would help me, backed out.


I had also emailed Hong Kong government scientists but received no response. A Thailand-based forensic pathologist, Dr Porntip Rojanasunan, was friendly but difficult to contact. In any event, I found that most of her cases did not really fit my criterion for inclusion as they didn’t have (from my viewpoint) a satisfactory denouement in court.


Meanwhile, I talked to various forensic science contacts in Melbourne, who emailed their Asian-based colleagues. Most of the time, I received polite initial replies from these scientists but silence usually fell once I started making enquiries about specific cases.


Another contact I had pinned some hope on was UK-based forensic scientist Sheilah Hamilton. She had been a government forensic scientist in Hong Kong and hadn’t seemed shy about talking to the media. She also seemed to have worked on lots of interesting cases. We emailed a little and then I finally arranged to talk to her on the phone.


That’s when she gave me the bad news. She did not want to be in my new book as she was thinking of writing her own. Yet she did not shut me down completely. We had talked about an interesting case involving forensic traces of explosive and she had mentioned the name of the barrister on that case, a Peter Lavac. She told me that he would probably be happy to talk to me about it.


Perhaps he would, I remember thinking. But that was one case. I had also had a friendly response from former Australian Federal Police scientist David Royds. I knew that his role in the successful forensic investigation into the 2002 Bali terrorist bombings had been particularly dramatic. I was also aware that he would be able to give me a thorough rundown of both the Indonesian and the Australian sides of the operation. This was going to be handy because the Indonesian scientists on my list had also not replied to my emails.


I had two cases. I needed 16. It was definitely time to officially lay this book idea to rest.


But barrister Peter Lavac proved so easy to find. He was no longer working in Hong Kong. In fact he was working in Sydney, and I was going to be there for a conference for my one-day-a-week job as media officer for a Melbourne-based legal research organisation.


So I arranged to meet him. I told him about my apparently doomed plans for the book and that I was about to call the publisher and abandon it. But he was willing to have a chat about the case anyway.


We spoke for about an hour and I taped about thirty minutes of our chat.


I certainly didn’t change my mind about the book that night.


But in subsequent weeks I found my thoughts returning to Chan and The Big Spender. It was such a good story, and I really wanted to be able to tell it. So I listened to the tape and had a go at drafting a story outline. Meanwhile I considered the literal meaning of “forensic”: “to do with a court”. I reminded myself that lawyers, as well as scientists, could be good sources of cases decided by forensic scientific evidence.


I realised I could still write the book. I would just do it by talking to lawyers instead of scientists. So, once again, I began looking for cases. But this time, on my own. I searched the database of Hong Kong’s South China Morning Post, Malaysia’s New Straits Times and Singapore’s The Straits Times. After all, few cases with interesting forensic evidence escape the notice of newspaper court reporters. I also searched worldlii.org, the world database of court judgements and information.


With the Singapore cases, one criminal lawyer’s name kept coming up: Subhas Anandan. When I first started thinking about this book, he was still alive. Sadly he died in January 2015, but his colleague and nephew Sunil Sudheesan was still in practice.


I emailed Sunil, asking for information and telling him I was heading for Singapore. He replied with an invitation to lunch and, later, a vast e-bundle of documents. He also told me about a case where the evidence of Australian forensic pathologist Professor Johan Duflou had saved one of his clients from the hangman’s noose. Duflou had also been an expert witness in the trials of Ram Tiwary, a Singaporean jailed for murder in Sydney and later acquitted – and whose case, my publishers suggested, might be an interesting one for me to look at.


Over at the Singapore Police Force Public Affairs Department, the Head of the Media Production and Liaison Unit, Superintendent Jimmy Law, was also very helpful. He pointed me in the direction of two cases (“Death in Bukit Batok Nature Park” and “The CCTV Camera’s Eye Sees All”) where the forensic science work had been so dramatically successful that the police had made Crimewatch TV episodes about them and put them on YouTube.


In Malaysia, I had the help of eminent criminal lawyer Dato’ V Sithambaram (“Unknown Male One”) while HK criminal lawyer Gary Plowman, SC, gave me a lot of time, explaining the background of a case in which a man was charged with murder after his car exploded, killing his wife (“Murder or Accident?”). Gary also put me on to Hong Kong’s Judge Audrey Campbell-Moffat, SC, of the Court of First Instance of the High Court, who was kind enough to talk me through the forensic evidence in a case she prosecuted (“The Body in the Couch”).


In the meantime I kept reading ForensicAsia, the newsletter of the Asian Forensic Sciences Network. Occasionally it featured case reports from scientists whose work I needed to describe. But the group’s organisers had also ignored my emails. One of the Philippines-based scientists whose work was published in it, Dr Maria Corazon de Ungria, responded to my message to her via Twitter. So did her colleague, forensic pathologist Dr Raquel del Rosario-Fortun, who replied to my email. Three cases came out of those conversations: “A Surprise Paternity Test Result”, “Solving a Giant Genealogical Puzzle” and “The Marivic Genosa Case”.


In the end I had enough material for a proper casebook, with 16 cases spread across Singapore, Malaysia, Hong Kong, the Philippines and Indonesia.


The book that resulted, Crime Scene Asia: when forensic evidence becomes the silent witness, is like my two earlier forensic science books, in that it’s a casebook of real-life examples of the way forensic science is used to solve crimes, convict criminals and exonerate the falsely accused.


And, as with those previous books, I couldn’t have done it without huge assistance from a dozen other people. The lawyers I mentioned above helped me by talking to me and then checking what I had written and making corrections and additions. In this respect I am also particularly grateful to scientists David Royds, Professor Johan Duflou, Dr Raquel del Rosario-Fortun and Dr Maria Corazon de Ungria, as well as to Melbourne forensic pathologist Dr Byron Collins and an anonymous Australian police scientist (who knows who she is). Sydney criminal lawyers Tim Game, SC, and David Dalton, SC, were also kind enough to read my draft of the Ram Tiwary case and make comments that were a great help to me.


I would like to thank my publisher Melvin Neo, and Violet Phoon who helped edit my book. Both have been an absolute delight to work with. And I am enormously indebted to Professor Stephen Cordner, Professor of Forensic Pathology (International), at Monash University and Head of International Programmes, Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine for doing me the honour of reading my manuscript and writing its Foreword.


Liz Porter


Melbourne, Australia


March 2018










THE CASES








SINGAPORE


Case One


DEATH IN BUKIT BATOK NATURE PARK


When a morning jogger found an unidentified woman’s body in a beautiful Singapore nature park, police were stumped. Who was she? No relative or friend had reported her missing. All police had to go on was a series of dental implants in her teeth. Through a combination of great forensic work and tireless door knocking, the dead woman’s dentist was identified. But why had she been killed? The victim’s work colleagues had no idea and her mobile phone had disappeared. Inspector Kelvin Kwok obtained her phone records and his team of investigators got to work. The phone was still in use. And three numbers had been called repeatedly in the days since her death. Was the killer the caller?


The green woodlands of Singapore’s Bukit Batok Nature Park comprise what travel guides like to call “an oasis of calm” in a frenetically busy city. The 36-hectare park boasts lush greenery and abundant birdlife, while the clear waters of its lake are home to several species of fish and two varieties of freshwater turtle. Its undulating paths draw joggers; its serenity attracts birdwatchers and nature lovers. And, as became apparent one day in 2008, its leafy hollows also make it an appealing venue for a killer in need of a place to dump a body.


As the murderer in question had hoped, his victim lay undiscovered for several days. Then, on the morning of October 20, 2008, the dawn birdcalls were drowned out by the whoop of police sirens. At 7 am a jogger had been making his way along Lorong Sesuai, a small road that leads into the park from busy Upper Bukit Timah Road, when he came to a sudden halt, nostrils twitching.


It was the time of year when an optimist might hope to catch the last whiff of the night-blooming sweetness of the park’s native Tembusu tree. But the odour the jogger could smell was sharp, unmistakable and strong enough to banish the usual ferny freshness of morning. His nose led him to a decomposing body lying in vegetation at the bottom of a heavily wooded slope.


Fortunately the man had his phone on him. Soon, two police cars were screeching to a halt on Lorong Sesuai. After a quick look at the body, the officers unrolled the crime scene tape and began calling in the forensic artillery.


By mid-morning the area was swarming with crime scene investigators. A photographer recorded the tyre marks that could be seen at the top of the slope. His camera also captured traces of yellow paint embedded in a damaged tree trunk. Other officers searched the undergrowth, bagging orange and black plastic fragments they found at the base of that tree. It seemed logical to assume that the same car that had left the tyre marks had also run into the tree. Judging by the 1.2 m to 1.3 m distance between the left and right tyre tracks, a small vehicle was responsible.


Neither shoes nor bag nor wallet were found on or near the body. So it seemed likely that the victim had been brought to his or her final resting place in that car.


None of the officers touched the body, which was clad in a beige polo shirt and black pants. They were waiting for forensic pathologist Dr Paul Chui. As is customary, he wanted to examine the body in situ. It would then be transported to the mortuary at the Health Sciences Authority’s Centre for Forensic Medicine for him to carry out an autopsy. The Health Sciences Authority (HSA) is the country’s national multidisciplinary scientific regulatory agency. Its Forensic Science Division provides forensic science services to law enforcement agencies, hospitals, private organisations and individuals across Singapore.


What could the forensic pathologist say?


From his preliminary examination, the forensic expert judged the body to be that of a woman aged between 25 and 45. Running his gloved hands gently over her head, he could feel damage on its left side – probably caused by a heavy blow. He guessed she’d been dead for about four days. Certainly she was far too decomposed to be identified visually. As with all badly decomposed bodies, the best clue to her identity would be her teeth.


Later that day, his autopsy examination confirmed that she was female, had been about 1.53 m tall and had suffered blunt force trauma to her head. But the woman’s body told him nothing else that would help the police find her killer.


For a start, who was she? If she were a local, then she had no close friends or family. Two days after the discovery of her body, there had been no reports lodged with police about a missing woman. Taking Dr Chui’s estimate that she had been dead for four days, she had now been missing for almost a week.


Might she be a tourist? Did her friends and family think she was away? Or was she a loner?


An appeal to the media


The woman had been wearing silver and yellow rings on her left and right ring fingers respectively and a Seiko watch on her left wrist. A silver chain hung around her neck. Although none of these items were distinctive, the police took the unusual step of having them photographed for the press. The pictures appeared in the papers three days after the woman’s body had been found.


“Who do these belong to?” was the headline. The only other external clues to the mystery woman’s identity were the traces of yellow paint on the tree and fragments of plastic found near her body.


Earlier that year, Singapore police had set up the island nation’s first Vehicle Paint Database to help trace vehicles involved in hit and run accidents and terrorist car bomb attacks. Logging on to it, HSA forensic chemists found that the yellow paint on the tree did not match any of the paints on the database. But the pieces of clear orange plastic found at the crime scene looked to have come from the housing of a car light while the fragments of black plastic appeared to be part of the number plate.


No Japanese-made cars that came in yellow had orange light housing. It seemed likely that the car in question was a Chery QQ – a Chinese make of car. If the woman – or her killer – had one of these, the location of the fragments suggested the car had been used to transport her body to the nature park.


Secrets in the teeth


The detectives at Singapore’s Criminal Investigation Department (CID) were counting on the X-rays of the dead woman’s teeth to solve the mystery of her identity. Taken after the autopsy, these radiographs documented extensive dental work, including crowns, implants and bridging. This victim had spent many hours in her dentist’s chair. Unless the work had been done overseas, one of Singapore’s more than a thousand dentists would be able to recognise his or her work.


The dental implants themselves, meanwhile, contained valuable information. Each was stamped with a serial number, its digits so tiny that they could only be read through a microscope. These numbers indicated that the implants had been supplied by the global company Straumann, Switzerland-based but with a Singapore branch that sold the implants directly into Asia. A check with the company established that the implants in the dead woman’s mouth were part of a batch imported between January and June in 2007 and despatched to a long list of local dental surgeries.


The CID’s special investigation team assigned to this case had more than a dozen members. Its leader, Inspector Kelvin Kwok, handed each member a copy of the dead woman’s dental X-rays, along with a list of names and addresses, several pages long. These were the details of all the dentists who had ordered Straumann implants after January 2007.


Three days of door knocking


This search would be a tedious process, Kwok reminded his troops. The only information that the officers could give the dentists was that they were looking for an Asian female patient, aged between 25 and 45. But finding the right dentist would unlock the secret of the dead woman’s identity. And that would bring the team one step closer to finding her killer.


This systematic approach worked. After three days of door knocking, one of the dozens of dentists interviewed recognised the dental X-rays. He had spent many hours with their owner. She had needed a crown and a root canal treatment on one tooth, along with a metal filling in the neighbouring tooth.


The patient’s name was Choo Xue Ying and she was 47 years old.


“When she first came to see me,” the dead woman’s dentist said, “she had severe tooth decay. Three teeth had to be extracted and she requested dental implants.”


Back at CID headquarters, Kwok briefed the team on the little that was known about the dead woman. The key detail was that she had been working as a property agent for the giant realtor Propnex. After a visit to the company’s office, where she had been one of many hundreds on the books, it was easier to understand why her colleagues had not reported her missing.


“Jennifer”, as she was known at work, was very much a solo operator. In fact she had not set foot in the property agency’s headquarters for some months.


As the forensic officers who had examined the paint fragments had suggested, she also owned a little yellow Chery QQ car. Judging from the pieces of damaged plastic found at the scene, that car was likely to have a broken signal light. If Jennifer Choo had been driven to the scene in her car, or killed in it, the vehicle would be a rich source of forensic evidence.


The search for the car


It was Monday October 27 – and only four days since Choo’s body had been discovered. But a whole week had passed since her murder. Now that the team had her car registration details, their priority was to find that car before the killer had a chance to repair, repaint, rebirth or torch it.


As soon as they had identified her, investigators had visited the dead woman’s last known address. It was a public housing studio flat in the central Singapore suburb of Eunos. She had shared it with an 82-year-old man who described her as “a friend”. She had not paid him rent but she had bought food for him every day.


The officers took Choo’s hairbrush and toothbrush, so that their forensic colleagues could back up her dental identification with a DNA match. The bristles of her toothbrush and hairbrush furnished enough cheek and scalp tissue cells to enable the extraction of a DNA profile. That profile was then compared with DNA extracted from the bone marrow of the woman whose body was still lying in Dr Chui’s mortuary. The two profiles matched.


In the meantime a routine police patrol had responded to the alert put out by Kwok’s team. A yellow Chery QQ with a registration number matching the missing car had been spotted abandoned in a heavy vehicle parking lot in Jalan Kubor, near Sungei Road, about 20 km away from Bukit Batok Park.


Bloodstains were found on the centre of the steering wheel, on the driver’s door, front passenger door, and the roof padding above the front passenger seat. DNA extracted from them matched Choo’s. The stains suggested that she had either been attacked in her car or just before she got into it.


Who was Jennifer Choo?


But who was Jennifer Choo? And under what circumstances had she met her killer?


The life of this victim was anything but an open book. The Propnex communications manager later told a newspaper that she was a “loner” who avoided the various social activities organised at his office. Yet she had at least one friend. This woman had placed a small obituary notice for Choo in The Straits Times. It described her as “a kind woman” she could “always count on” and “a creature of habit”. One of these habits was her daily visit to Geylang East Community Library (now known as Geylang East Public Library), where she went to use the Internet, always sitting in the same spot.


Choo also had a brother, whom police had contacted after they had confirmed her identity. And her family arranged a cremation for her. But, as is suggested by the fact that a Buddhist monk was commissioned to scatter her ashes in the waters off Changi, the dead woman had not been close to them.


With no network of close friends to fill them in on Choo’s activities over the weeks before her death, the investigators’ final information source would be her mobile phone.


The actual handset had not been found. But the police had put a trace on the number. They discovered that her phone had been still in use after October 16, the day that, by the forensic pathologist’s estimate, she had been murdered.


There was always a chance that Choo had simply lost her phone and the person using it after her death was merely a thief. But it was more likely that the phone user was her killer.


Three numbers to follow


Three numbers stood out as having been called repeatedly in the few days since her death. The pre-paid SIM card associated with the first one belonged to a woman called Jelly. An Indonesian who had been working as a prostitute in Singapore, she was an “overstayer” on her visa (and her full name was never published or read out in court). But she was nowhere to be found.


The second number belonged to a woman called Zubaidah.


The third belonged to a man named Adros.


Zubaidah was easy to find. Interviewing her, the police learned that the man who had spoken to her on Choo’s phone was called “Ali”. He had promised Zubaidah a job as a cleaner with his company. He had then borrowed Zubaidah’s own mobile phone and vanished without returning it.


Further enquiries yielded the fact that, between October 18 and 20, Zubaidah’s stolen phone had also been used to call Adros. When the investigators found him, they were relieved to hear him confirm that he also knew Ali. In fact he had recently gone to the police to complain that Ali had cheated him with a bounced cheque.


Adros told the investigators that he had met Ali in jail, years previously. They had run into one another again recently and Ali had suggested the pair go into business. As proof of his financial bona fides, he had given Adros a cheque. In the meantime, however, he needed cash to pay some pressing bills for the new business. Could Adros help? First Ali needed S$1400, and then S$10,000. There was no need to worry, Ali reassured Adros. He would get paid when the cheque cleared.


Predictably the cheque bounced.


So Ali was the man using the dead woman’s phone. He was probably her killer. But who was he?


Knowing the exact period that the two men had been in jail together meant that the investigators were able to assemble a book of mug shots of former inmates to show Adros, in the hope that he could point Ali out to them. Immigration authorities also provided a photo of Jelly to put in a parallel collection of mug shots. This Ali had a girlfriend, Adros had told police. The frequency of calls to her number suggested it might be the Indonesian woman Jelly.


The former prison buddy quickly found Ali in the book of mug shots. His name was Rosli bin Yassin and Jelly was, indeed, his girlfriend. Zubaidah was also able to identify Rosli as the Ali who had stolen her phone.


But where were Rosli and Jelly now? And what had caused Ali to morph from conman to killer?


The trail leads to Sentosa


On Friday October 31, Kelvin Kwok’s team assembled for another briefing. The CID had received information, Kwok told the group, that the couple had been staying on Sentosa Island, a small beach resort only a short monorail ride away from the city centre.


Enquiries at the island’s twenty-odd resorts and hotels had shown no Rosli bin Yassin in residence. If they were there, the couple were registered under false names. It was time for another “needle in a haystack”-style door-knocking exercise.


Half a dozen officers headed for the island and began working their way through the list of hotels. At each one, they showed reception staff photos of the couple. The investigators’ luck changed at Siloso Beach Resort Sentosa, a palm tree-lined luxury eco-resort just a few metres away from the beachfront. A concierge nodded when she saw the pictures. The pair were guests. They were out at the time, but due back.


After a flurry of phone calls, all six officers converged on the establishment.


When their quarry returned, the police waited for them to retire to their room. Then they swooped. At that point the duo were being arrested for the fraud offences (known as “cheating” under local law) against Adros and Zubaidah. There was no evidence linking either Rosli or Jelly to the dead woman.


That would soon change.


Rosli was used to being questioned by police, and gave little away.


Jelly wasn’t; before long she was tearfully confessing to having helped Rosli cheat Adros.


Asked what she knew about Choo, she dropped her boyfriend right in it. She said she had met Choo at the dead woman’s de facto “office”: the Geylang East Community Library.


“I don’t know what happened after they left the library,” she said.


Before they questioned Rosli again, the investigators examined footage from the CCTV cameras at the library’s entrance and exit.


Kelvin Kwok knew from Jelly that Choo had left the library with Rosli on October 16, the day on which she had died. That day’s CCTV footage showed Choo leaving the library in the afternoon, with Rosli following later.


Physical evidence, so far, had been crucial to solving this case. The victim could not have been identified with any certainty without forensic dentistry and DNA.


The bloodstains that the crime scene officers had found on the steering wheel were proof that Jennifer Choo had been injured in the car. Meanwhile HSA forensic chemist Lim Chin Chin had established, through matching the paint and plastic fragments at the scene with Choo’s car, that the car found abandoned in the Jalan Kubor car park was the same vehicle that had been driven away from Lorong Sesuai after it had crashed into a tree.


But the police had no forensic evidence to tie Rosli to the victim’s body or the car.


In Singapore a murder conviction carries the death penalty. So Rosli was not going to make any admissions about having killed Choo.


Kelvin Kwok and his team were certain that he was the killer. They needed a human witness who could place Rosli at the crime scene.


Jelly’s testimony would be vital


They had high hopes of Jelly. A cleanskin in comparison to Rosli, the Indonesian had already made full admissions about her role in her former boyfriend’s dishonest schemes.


While she had worked as a prostitute and committed crimes of dishonesty, she drew the line at murder. Keen to avoid a murder charge herself, she ended up making a comprehensive statement implicating her former boyfriend.


She was the prosecution’s chief witness at Rosli’s murder trial, which opened in Singapore’s High Court in October 2010.


By then she was an inmate of Changi Women’s Prison, where she was serving a three-year sentence for the cheating and forgery offences she had committed with Rosli, along with her own immigration offences.


She told police that she had met Rosli in August 2008 in a Geylang coffee shop. In the two months that the pair had been together, Rosli had begun introducing her to people as his wife. Although he was a mechanic by trade he had initially claimed to be an immigration officer. At the time, however, he was unemployed.


Jelly testified that Rosli had introduced her to Choo on October 14 at the Geylang East Community Library, telling her that he and Choo were going into a business venture together. The exact nature of that business was never revealed. It seems most likely that it was related to two apartments that Jennifer Choo had advertised for sale in The Straits Times on that day.


On the morning of October 16, the couple returned to the library for another meeting with Choo. That afternoon, Rosli said he and Choo were going off to do some business together. He asked Jelly to wait for him.


Once again, the “business” they were doing was most probably related to the above-mentioned two apartments, which were located less than 2 km away from the part of Lorong Sesuai where Choo’s body was found.


Two hours later, Rosli called and asked Jelly to meet him at a coffee shop on Sungei Road. This coffee shop was about 5 km away from the library but very near the car park where Choo’s car would later be found abandoned.


Walking into the coffee shop, Jelly found Rosli looking sweaty, muddy, dishevelled, and stressed. He had a wound on his hand and he was carrying several items that were not his: a laptop, a brown handbag and a second mobile.


The handbag looked like Choo’s. Rosli later transferred its contents into his pockets. He sold the laptop for S$300.


But Rosli was still short of money. Over the next few days he began using Choo’s chequebook to help him solve that problem. Meeting up with Adros, he wrote out a cheque for S$500,000 and used it to talk his old prison buddy into lending him S$1400. Two days later, on October 20, Adros lent him S$10,000, with the money to be paid back when Rosli’s cheque cleared.


The next day, flush with cash, Rosli and Jelly headed for Sentosa and booked into a room at the Siloso Beach Resort.


A few days later, Jelly told the police, Rosli picked up the newspaper but had to put it down again because his hands were trembling too much. The paper, she noted, was open at an article headlined “Who do these belong to?” and displaying photos of a woman’s rings, necklace and watch.


Jelly recognised the items immediately and confronted Rosli. Initially he denied having had anything to do with Choo’s disappearance. Eventually he admitted it, but claimed he had only acted in order to “protect” Jelly.


Choo, he told Jelly, had been an “immigration officer” and had been planning, along with a colleague, to abduct and kill her. Rosli had then become agitated, warning her to stop asking him about Choo. Jelly also claimed that Rosli had threatened to kill her if she tried to run away from the hotel.


Unsurprisingly, Rosli’s defence lawyer Wong Siew Hong slammed Jelly’s testimony as a “pack of lies”. She had not found out about Choo’s death at Sentosa, he alleged. Instead, he suggested, Jelly had accompanied Rosli and Choo to Bukit Batok Park. The barrister then accused her of remaining there during the assault and possibly also taking part in it. He also suggested that she had helped her boyfriend dispose of the dead woman’s belongings.


The defence lawyer only managed to catch his quarry in one definite lie. Jelly had told the court she was 39, while her passport listed her year of birth as 1975, making her only 35. But the young woman did not wilt under the barrister’s fierce cross-examination.


 On the contrary, her steadfast testimony may very well have convinced Rosli that the judge would believe her. Jelly’s version of events could be taken to suggest that he had planned to kill Choo. If the judge believed her, then Rosli would most certainly be found guilty of murder. In that case, his life would end with Singapore’s chief executioner placing a noose around his neck.


Rosli’s story changed


So Rosli changed his story. While he had killed Choo, he hadn’t meant to, he said. Surely that would make things better for him. His account of Choo’s death matched the forensic evidence – and most of Jelly’s statement.


Rosli told the police that the fatal argument had been over the amount of money that he owed Choo. It had broken out in Choo’s car in Lorong Sesuai, on the outskirts of Bukit Batok Park. Rosli had punched Choo on the head and face when they were in the car. This had caused the blood spatter later found on the centre of the vehicle’s steering wheel. After he had hit her, she had jumped out of the car, brandishing her phone, calling him “a conman” and threatening to call the police on him.


Rosli had then grabbed her phone. Losing control, he had punched her on the head several times, inflicting the injuries that eventually caused her death. Panicking, he had then carried her body to the bottom of a slope, hiding it in the undergrowth.


Afterwards he had driven her car 15 km to the Jalan Kubor heavy vehicle parking lot where it was later found. He had then made his way to a nearby coffee shop, phoning Jelly and asking her to meet him there.


As a result of his confession the murder charge against him was reduced to “culpable homicide”. This offence attracts a lesser penalty of 20 years’ jail because it covers killings that occur as a result of a fight and are not pre-meditated. This lesser charge also applies when it can be argued that an accused person has “diminished responsibility” because of mental faculties that are substantially impaired.


Rosli, who had an IQ of only 69, well below the 90 that is the minimum to qualify as merely “average” had served time before. A “frequent flier” in Singapore’s criminal justice system since the age of 31, he had notched up convictions for offences such as cheating, forgery, escaping from legal custody and theft.


Previously he had coped with the relatively short jail terms that these minor crimes had earned him. But things had changed for him by September 2011, when he faced the High Court to plead guilty to a culpable homicide charge and to charges of forgery, criminal breach of trust and cheating. By then he had been in detention for almost three years. He was cracking under the strain.


Waiting in the dock for his hearing to start, he was heard to say: “I want to die.” Then, when the hearing started and a Malay interpreter began reading out his charges, he interrupted her.


“If my life is like this, then why should I stay alive?” he asked. “I want to tell the judge to let me die.”


Justice Woo Bih Li disregarded that plea. He also ignored the arguments of the prosecution, who were demanding a sentence of 20 years’ preventive detention. This is a kind of imprisonment intended for habitual offenders who are at least 30 years old and considered to be too recalcitrant for reformation. Instead, Justice Woo gave Rosli 12 years’ preventive detention.


The prosecution then appealed, arguing that Rosli, by then 52, was a “menace to society” who should be “taken out of circulation for the longest time possible under the law to protect the public”.


In March 2013 three Court of Appeal judges threw the book at Rosli, upgrading his sentence to 20 years. Jelly wasn’t there to hear it. By then she had served her three-year jail term and had been repatriated back to her native Indonesia.










SINGAPORE


Case Two


THE CCTV CAMERA’S EYE SEES ALL


When a headless body was found floating in the Whampoa River, the forensic pathologist who was called to the scene told police that the victim was a “youngish” Indian woman. She had only been in the water a few hours and had been killed in the previous 24 hours, he said. But who was she? And who had killed her and dumped her body in the water? The many CCTV cameras in the area had done nothing to protect this woman, who may very well have been killed elsewhere. Had these cameras captured her killer as he carried her body towards the water?


Despite their city’s reputation for cleanliness, Singaporeans have a history of dumping plastic bags, Styrofoam boxes, shopping trolleys and even broken rattan chairs into the Singapore River and its various tributaries. Given their city’s legendarily low crime rate, relatively few citizens use the city’s waterways to also dump bodies. But there have been a few cases. In 2005, two boxes containing the upper and lower torso of a woman were washed up on to the banks of the Kallang River (see The Body Parts in the Kallang River). In 2011 the body of a man was found in a trolley bag in waters off Sentosa Island. Then, in 2013, at 7.25 am on Saturday December 12, a schoolboy was crossing the Whampoa River near McNair Road when he spotted a large, black, plastic-wrapped parcel floating in the murky green waters. Two feet protruded from it.


Police were on the scene within minutes, fencing off the area with crime scene tape and organising Singapore Civil Defence Force fire-fighters to retrieve the body. Meanwhile a forensic team began erecting a small, blue, crime scene tent by the roadside. It would give the dead body some protection from the curious stares of passers-by. It also allowed the on-call forensic pathologist some privacy while he unwrapped the body to do a preliminary examination.


Roy Lim, Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) and deputy head of the Criminal Investigation Department’s Special Investigation Section, was the next to arrive, followed by Health Sciences Authority (HSA) forensic pathologist Dr George Paul. The forensic expert’s observations about the time of death would dictate the initial direction of the investigation.


He told the detective that the body was a “youngish” Indian woman. Some rigor mortis – the process of stiffening that tends to set in three or four hours after death – was already affecting her limbs. Placing a gloved hand on the dead woman’s back he pointed out some faint hypostasis. Also called “the darkening of death”, this bluish purple or purple-red discolouration indicates the pooling of the blood in one spot, caused by gravity, that occurs after death. This suggested that the deceased had been lying on her back for a few hours.


The time of death was crucial


The forensic pathologist then considered the fact that the woman’s body had been immersed in water: a situation that creates its own decomposition changes. Fat layers in the skin expand, causing visible deformation to a corpse within 24 hours. Here, however, there were no signs of such changes. This suggested that she had been in the water for only a few hours. There was also no evidence of other early signs of putrefaction, such as the greenish hue which may begin appearing on the skin of the abdomen on the second day after death.


Dr Paul’s initial conclusions were that the unfortunate woman had been dead for about six to eight hours – and certainly for fewer than 24 hours. But until he had done a full post-mortem examination back in the HSA mortuary, he didn’t want to speculate on the cause of death. At DSP Lim’s request he took a blood sample at the scene, rather than wait until he was back in the autopsy room.


Whoever had killed this woman had cut off her head and hands to hide her identity. This was a clear indication that the killer was related or known to the dead woman. So the detective wanted her DNA profile as soon as possible.


The forensic pathologist’s estimate of time of death was crucial. If this victim had been dead for less than a day and had been in the water for only a few hours, her killer had to have dumped her body into the water in the middle of the night.


It was now Saturday afternoon.


“Time is of the essence,” Lim told his team. They didn’t need to be reminded of the “48 hours” rule. A detective’s chances of ever solving a murder are halved if the first good lead fails to materialise in the first 48 hours of an investigation.


Finding the body’s head and hands would help solve the mystery of the dead woman’s identity. Given that the water in the Whampoa River was very still, it seemed safe to assume that the body had been thrown into the water from somewhere close to where it was found. There was a strong chance that the killer had also dumped the murder weapon – and possibly also the woman’s head and hands – in the vicinity.
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